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OTHERS PRESENT: 

 
Dino DiCianno, Executive Director, Department of Taxation 
Wes Henderson, Government Affairs Coordinator, Nevada Association of 

Counties, Carson City, Nevada 
Norman Frey, Vice Chair, Board of Commissioners, Churchill County, and 

member, Board of Directors, Nevada Association of Counties, 
Carson City, Nevada 

Doug Johnson, Commissioner, Board of Commissioners, Douglas County, 
and Member, Board of Directors, Nevada Association of Counties, 
Carson City, Nevada 

Bjorn Selinder, Public Policy Innovations, LLC, Fallon, Nevada, 
representing Churchill, Elko, and Eureka Counties 

Ted Olivas, Director, Office of Administrative Services, City of Las Vegas, 
Nevada 

Michael E. Skaggs, Carson City, Executive Director, Division of Economic 
Development, Commission on Economic Development 

LeRoy Goodman, Fernley, Commissioner, Commission on Economic 
Development 

 
Chair McClain: 
[Called the meeting to order.  Roll was called; all were present.]  We have 
three bills today, and two of them actually belong to the Department of 
Taxation.  I think we will let Mr. DiCianno get his out of the way, since I rolled 
him over from last week.  We will open the hearing on Assembly Bill 23. 
 
Assembly Bill 23:  Revises provisions governing the crediting and refunding of 

overpayments of certain taxes and fees. (BDR 32-346) 
 
Dino DiCianno, Executive Director, Department of Taxation: 
I am here today on behalf of the Department to support A.B. 23, which is our 
bill.  Section 1 of the bill tells you what this is about.  We are attempting to 
apply credits to outstanding taxes that are owed to the Department.  
Specifically, if a taxpayer has a liability on one tax and a credit on another, we 
want to apply that credit to the liability in hopes of reducing our current 
accounts receivable balance as best we can.   
 
An even bigger reason is that we get complaints from taxpayers as to why, 
from an accounting standpoint, we do not simply apply their credit on one tax 
to a liability on another.  Current statute does not allow that.  Each tax statute 
stands on its own.  With this bill, we are attempting to allow that to occur 
across the board on the different types of taxes.  That is it in a nutshell. 
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Assemblyman Gustavson: 
This is a pretty straightforward bill, and I do not have a problem with the 
concept.  The way it is written, though, it says, "Any overpayment must be 
credited against any other such tax or fee then due from the taxpayer or other 
person before the overpayment can be refunded."  This does not say whether it 
goes back to a Nevada state tax.  It is not clear to me where this overpayment 
is going. 
 
Dino DiCianno: 
It would be applied back to the entire tax owed.  Take Sales and Use Tax for 
example.  We know that tax has a state component and a local component.  
What will occur, if there is a credit on another tax, is that the amount of the 
credit will be applied, dollar for dollar, to the amount of the sales tax owed.   
 
Assemblyman Gustavson: 
I just wanted to make sure it was going to the Nevada Department of Taxation 
and not to the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) or to California. 
 
Dino DiCianno: 
It is not going to the IRS, I can assure you.  It is going to the Department of 
Taxation. 
 
Assemblyman Anderson: 
I am a little concerned about what happens if a business has gone into 
foreclosure or gone out of business while owing taxes and owing creditors.  
Would this preclude other creditors from having an opportunity to make a claim 
on this money? 
 
Dino DiCianno: 
No.  The intent of the bill is to deal with current open accounts.  If there are 
accounts related to bankruptcies where other creditors might have claims, we 
would not do that. 
 
Assemblyman Anderson: 
Does the bill make that clear? 
 
Dino DiCianno: 
I believe it does, yes. 
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Assemblywoman Pierce: 
There are taxes that you collect and taxes that other entities in state 
government collect.  If there is a refund, could this money go from the taxes 
you collect to the taxes another entity collects? 
 
Dino DiCianno: 
That is not the case with this bill.  This only relates to taxes the Department of 
Taxation collects.   
 
Assemblyman Aizley: 
Where is the wording in the bill that says it applies only to taxes owed to the 
Department of Taxation?  What is written here is very vague:  "any other such 
tax or fee then due."  It does not say from or to whom, just that it is due. 
 
Dino DiCianno: 
If you read further up, it says, "any taxpayer or other person that has paid any 
tax or fee administered by the Department."  That is us. 
 
Assemblyman Aizley: 
That wording is in the beginning but not in the end. 
 
Dino DiCianno: 
That is correct.  I believe it is intended to flow through.  If there is 
a grammatical issue with the bill, I am sure we can correct it.  That is the intent, 
though. 
 
Assemblyman Aizley: 
Since three of us have asked the same question, I think it might need 
clarification. 
 
Chair McClain: 
You are questioning what this bill does in the context of all of Nevada Revised 
Statutes (NRS), is that correct? 
 
Assemblyman Aizley: 
Madam Chair, my question is with that last part where the amount of the 
overpayment must be credited against any other such tax or fee.  I think that 
needs clarification.  It would help to add that it is owed to the Department of 
Taxation. 
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Michael Nakamoto, Deputy Fiscal Analyst, Fiscal Analysis Division, Legislative 

Counsel Bureau: 
My understanding of the intent of the bill is that the overpayments are to be 
applied specifically to those taxes that would otherwise be collected by the 
Department of Taxation.  The credit would be applied to those specific taxes 
before any refund was made.  If there is any clarification of language that would 
better satisfy the members of the Committee, I can work with Mr. DiCianno to 
clear it up. 
 
Dino DiCianno: 
I can appreciate the concern.  I want to have clear language regarding what we 
are doing here.  If the Department applies a credit to an outstanding liability, 
and if there is any remaining money due the taxpayer, then that transitory 
language at the end says we must refund that money to the taxpayer.  I believe 
that is what it means.  If it needs further clarification, I do not have a problem 
with that. 
 
Chair McClain: 
Is everybody clear on this?  This particular bill refers to a chapter of NRS that 
deals with the Department of Taxation.  You may not see the entire scope of 
that chapter; we only need to fix one small part of it. 
 
Assemblywoman Kirkpatrick: 
I support this bill.  I think it will save the Department money.  I have seen 
refunds for $0.89, and it costs $5.00 to send out the check.  I support the bill 
exactly as it is written.  I think it is very clear that it goes back to your statute 
within NRS.   
 
Because we live in a transient state, you could send out a check that would go 
nowhere.  The Department should have all the tools necessary to collect 
revenue.  I would be curious to see how much this saves you over the next 
two years. 
 
Chair McClain: 
Are there any other questions?  [There was no response.]  We will close the 
hearing on A.B. 23 and open the hearing on Assembly Bill 37.  
 
Assembly Bill 37:  Provides relief from paying the penalty for the late payment 

of the annual fee for a state business license under certain 
circumstances. (BDR 32-347) 
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Dino DiCianno, Executive Director, Department of Taxation: 
Assembly Bill 37 is a Department of Taxation bill, and I am here to testify in 
support of it.  Currently, under the business license statute, there is a provision 
that does not allow the Department to waive the penalty on a late payment of 
a business license fee for any reason.  We believe that is unfair to the taxpayers 
because, to be quite frank, the Department does make mistakes.  Sometimes 
we assess a penalty that should not have been assessed.  The statute, as it is 
currently written, would prohibit me from waiving that penalty, and I feel that is 
not appropriate.   
 
Also, there are circumstances where a taxpayer, for good cause, did pay late, 
and that should be adjudicated just as we do any other tax.  The other tax 
statutes we administer have provisions for waiving a penalty for good cause. 
 
Assemblywoman Kirkpatrick: 
Will the way that waiver is granted be put into regulation?  I hate tax amnesty, 
and I do not want to see a business license amnesty in the future.  I am curious 
as to what would be put in place to address that. 
 
Dino DiCianno: 
That is an excellent question.  We do have regulations in place for the other tax 
statutes.  We would definitely put regulations in place on this that would mirror 
those to show what the good causes would be, within reason. 
 
Chair McClain: 
I do not know what impact this might have on Assembly Bill 146 on the 
business license portal, which we heard earlier. 
 
Dino DiCianno: 
Without knowing all the details associated with the business portal or whether 
or not the Office of the Secretary of State will take over the business license, 
I would still rather recommend that this bill be processed.  I am not sure this 
would have an impact on the Secretary of State's business portal.  There are 
taxpayers out there that do have good cause for being assessed a late penalty.   
 
Chair McClain: 
That is something we on the Committee need to keep in the back of our minds.  
What kind of criteria are you considering as good cause for late payment of 
fees?   
 
Dino DiCianno: 
The first one would be if the Department made an error.  That is not the 
taxpayer's fault.  You might ask why we assessed the penalty to begin with.  
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These normally are automatic penalty assessments within our system; there is 
no human intervention at that point.  Once that is sent and we get a request 
back from the taxpayer, obviously, if we made an error, we would remove that 
penalty.   
 
There could be issues regarding acts of God, such as flood or earthquake, that 
could cause the taxpayer not to be able to pay.  Or perhaps the business had an 
employee who, unbeknownst to the owner, did not use due diligence.  Those 
are the kinds of reasons we would look at—things out of the business owners' 
direct control. 
 
Assemblywoman Koivisto: 
Do you have a large number of people who are late in paying their business 
license fees?   
 
Dino DiCianno: 
No, that is not the case.  Late fees are very minor in nature.  My concern here is 
that, the way the current statute is written, business owners may not have 
legitimately been assessed the penalty to begin with, and I have no authority, 
under statute, to remove it.  Common sense would tell you we should remove 
it. 
 
Assemblyman Aizley: 
Is there any thought of doing this retroactively?  It sounds like you have 
examples in mind of people to whom you would have liked to have refunded an 
overpayment.  However, the bill says it becomes effective upon passage. 
 
Dino DiCianno: 
That is a good question.  I made it clear on the record, when the Nevada Tax 
Commission was promulgating the regulations regarding the business license 
right after the 2003 Legislative Session, that if there was a Department error, 
and the taxpayer could show that the penalty should not have been assessed, 
then I would waive it.  Therefore, we will not be applying this retroactively. 
 
My concern is that, without making a statutory change, I am doing something in 
violation of the statute.  I want to avoid that, even though it made perfect 
sense to remove the penalty. 
 
Chair McClain: 
It is called codifying current practice. 
 



Assembly Committee on Taxation 
February 24, 2009 
Page 8 
 
Assemblywoman Koivisto: 
Do big corporations like Wal-Mart pay the $100-a-year business license fee, or 
do they pay that fee for each store? 
 
Dino DiCianno: 
That depends on how that entity is structured.  If it is a corporation that is 
incorporated with the Secretary of State, such as Wal-Mart, and the different 
stores are "doing business as" (DBA) that corporation, then only one business 
license is required.  If they do not operate as a DBA, they would have to have 
separate business licenses.  The same thing applies to McDonald's.  I am not 
suggesting a change, Madam Chair. 
 
Chair McClain: 
But you certainly got her attention.  Are there any other questions?  [There were 
none.]  We will close the hearing on A.B. 37 and open the hearing on 
Assembly Bill 30. 
 
Assembly Bill 30:  Revises provisions governing the granting by the Commission 

on Economic Development of a partial abatement of certain taxes on a 
new or expanded business in this State. (BDR 32-458) 

 
Wes Henderson, Government Affairs Coordinator, Nevada Association of 

Counties, Carson City, Nevada: 
[Read from prepared testimony (Exhibit C).]  I would also like to add that we 
have been made aware of two issues with the bill.  We are certainly willing to 
work with the entities involved in order to correct those issues. 
 
At the top of page 5 of the bill, section 1, subsection 3(a)(2), there is a 60-day 
time period for the counties to reply.  If the counties did not reply within that 
time, the Commission on Economic Development (NCED) would be free to grant 
a tax abatement.  There is concern that 60 days is too long a period.  We would 
certainly be willing to shorten it.  Also, other tax entities would like a provision 
that we would notify them, and they would have the opportunity to appear at 
a public forum before the county commission as they discuss any possible tax 
abatements. 
 
Norman Frey, Vice Chair, Board of Commissioners, Churchill County, and 

Member, Board of Directors, Nevada Association of Counties, 
Carson City, Nevada: 

The changes we are requesting are simple changes that can be worked with 
very easily.  We are just asking for simple notification and meaningful input to 
the application of abatements.   
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I have come face to face with people from the geothermal industry for the first 
time at NCED meetings.  We have gotten late notice that they were going to be 
granted an abatement, and the first opportunity we got to talk about it was at 
the NCED meetings because the notification actually went to our local 
Commission on Economic Development.  People on the local commission 
thought the abatement was great because they could check a box showing they 
had done a good thing.   
 
However, the abatements do affect the revenues for our communities.  It is 
almost like having your father-in-law in charge of some of your finances.  When 
those things happen, they can create bad feelings if we are not careful.  We are 
put in a position, if these abatements are considered to be automatic, of being 
in opposition to a necessary business that wants to come to our community. 
 
My primary experience is with the geothermal industry.  We have had many 
conversations with Michael Skaggs of NCED over geothermal being different 
from other industries in that they go where the hot water is.  We may not wish 
to grant them a full abatement, or we may wish to negotiate with them for 
other benefits to our community in exchange for an abatement agreement.   
 
There are a lot of avenues we can explore to capture these revenues that are 
needed for the communities.  The smaller the communities, and the more of 
these little golden eggs that come, the more necessary they are, especially for 
providing infrastructure. 
 
Doug Johnson, Commissioner, Board of Commissioners, Douglas County and 

Member, Board of Directors, Nevada Association of Counties, Carson 
City, Nevada: 

I am here to represent unanimous support from the Nevada Association of 
Counties' (NACO) Board of Directors and, subsequently, unanimous support 
from the NACO Legislative Committee.  We believe any flexibility you give the 
counties will not only be an asset for all, but it should also create more 
accountability.  In Douglas County, we just increased abatements on a couple of 
companies.  The abatements do work.   
 
If I recall correctly, in the late 1990s, several abatements were given to 
companies that are no longer even in existence in Nevada.  I think this measure 
would work well to give you more accountability with the counties, and the 
counties would get a little say in something that directly affects their budgets. 
 
Assemblywoman Kirkpatrick: 
It is imperative that everyone knows what their budget shortfalls might be.  
There is a process in place that has been working for two years in which people 
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have to come to the table, everybody takes part in the discussions, and 
everybody wins.  I know I have talked about this for the last year and a half, but 
one thing I would like to see is for the language here to be consistent with what 
we did with the green building bill.  That process is proven to work and does 
not impede Mr. Skaggs' activities.   
 
One of the things we did on the green building abatement was to include a time 
frame.  I would be curious to hear from Mr. Skaggs what businesses are 
planning on coming and when, and what they are projected to do.  I would hope 
you three gentlemen, as well as Mr. Skaggs, could work together.  He has a job 
to do bringing businesses here.  But for those of you who are trying to fill that 
budget hole, it can be hard to justify.  I would like you to look at that green 
building language and process because I think that is a fair way to do this.  We 
have a great process in place. 
 
Assemblyman Grady: 
Some years back, when Mr. Hadfield and I used to roam these halls together, 
we had legislation saying the counties could accept or reject these abatements.  
That language was taken out for a company in Washoe County.  Now the 
counties have basically no say other than, "Thanks for telling us," if, in fact, 
they were told.  That is wrong.  We know abatements for the water and 
geothermal companies caused some real problems with Churchill County's 
budget. 
 
Mr. Johnson, you mentioned that some companies have left your area.  Has 
anyone ever gone back and told a company, "You signed an agreement for so 
many years, for so many employees, at this dollar amount, and now you are 
leaving, so you owe the State of Nevada and local governments some money?"  
Has anyone, to your knowledge, done that in Douglas County when companies 
left? 
 
Doug Johnson: 
Not to my knowledge.  In Douglas County, we have not had anybody leave that 
had tax abatements that I am aware of.  That was a statewide issue.  
Assemblywoman Kirkpatrick could probably speak to that. 
 
Assemblywoman Pierce: 
You spoke about changing the 60-day time period on page 5.  What were you 
thinking of changing it to? 
 
Wes Henderson: 
That was simply a concern that had been brought up.  A number of days has 
not been determined yet, but it would have to be enough time for the board of 
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county commissioners to notice the meeting.  I would probably say cut it in half 
and make it 30 days. 
 
Chair McClain: 
Can you explain why whoever it was who had that concern did not like the 
60 days? 
 
Wes Henderson: 
They thought it might be too long for NCED to have to wait if a company is 
looking to relocate to Nevada now.  Throwing a 2-month delay into the 
negotiation process could have a detrimental effect on negotiations. 
 
Chair McClain: 
But 30 days could be a problem for the counties.  Not everybody meets every 
other week like Clark County does.   
 
Doug Johnson: 
I would not recommend anything less than 30 days because I do not think there 
would be any way for us to have a meeting to even acknowledge agreement or 
disagreement. 
 
Chair McClain: 
That is my point.  You are cutting it close with 30 days.  If you get a notice 
right after you agendize your next meeting, then you have 29 days. 
 
Assemblywoman Kirkpatrick: 
That is why I say we probably have to revisit the policy we have set with the 
green building abatements.  That is a very smooth process that gives the NCED 
the ability to give you a heads-up without stopping the sale.  Trying to land that 
business is what this is all about.  In my industry, if I do not get samples to 
a customer tomorrow, I lose a sale.  I understand that, and I would like to work 
with you to streamline the process.   
 
I think we did a great job with the green building process, with a whole lot of 
input from a whole lot of people making sure the process was clear.  It keeps us 
ahead of the game, and it will not allow businesses to string us along.  Either 
a business is moving to our state or it is not.  Notification is vital to the 
long-term budgets, but I do not want to lose the sale.  It is a sale, because we 
are selling Nevada.  I would be glad to work with you if you wish. 
 
Chair McClain: 
Thank you, Madam Vice Chair.  It sounds like I have a volunteer to head up the 
work group. 
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Assemblyman Anderson: 
On page 4 of the bill, in section 1, lines 38 and 39, you are removing the 
language that includes the letter of acknowledgement from the school district.  
Am I to understand they will no longer be required to have that on record?  
I realize you are not asking that the school district have the same opportunity to 
cancel as the county commission, but you will not even require that they have 
an opportunity to respond that they are unhappy about an abatement.  When 
the NCED is taking up the question, there will be no verification one way or 
another.  Is that what is going to happen, or am I misreading the bill?  If I am 
misreading the bill, I will reread it, but I want to make sure. 
 
Wes Henderson: 
Lines 39 and 40, "notified the governing body of each affected county, school 
district, city, or town," would require that, if a school district was to be 
affected, they would still get a letter notifying them of this.  The county would 
also notify other affected entities so they would have an opportunity to appear 
when the county board of commissioners took up the matter of the abatement. 
 
Assemblyman Anderson: 
In my county, an assessment district like this has a large impact on the school 
district's ability to handle its own fiscal affairs.  I am concerned about what 
their standing is going to be if we proceed in this fashion.  This would improve 
the county's position.  But would it weaken the school district's position, or 
would their position remain the way it is now?  It looks to me as though they 
are losing ground. 
 
Doug Johnson: 
The way I interpret this, I do not think we are reducing their ability as a school 
district.  I think it keeps them even.  They also have the ability, with 
notification, to come before the county commissioners to speak, or to notify the 
commissioners, just like anybody else.  I do not see any other way of changing 
that, but we would be open to any recommendations. 
 
Assemblyman Anderson: 
It seems to me that by sending that notice directly to the school district, the 
NCED recognized that, while the school district was not actually there, it was, 
in fact, aware of what was taking place.  There would be a comfort level so the 
NCED would not have to wonder if the school district was waiting in the wings 
to sneak in the door at the last second or to confront them later on to ask the 
question, "Why did you not tell me?"   
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Norman Frey: 
With the current system, they have to go before the NCED.  With the system 
we are proposing, they will be notified and can then come and participate in the 
discussion with other members of the community about whether we should 
allow or disallow this abatement.  This would make it a lot simpler for them to 
contribute their input.  We would come together to NCED as a community 
rather than as individual government entities. 
 
Assemblyman Anderson: 
Okay.  I disagree, but . . . 
 
Chair McClain: 
I would like to have Mrs. Kirkpatrick work with you because this looks a little 
unclear to me too.  As it reads now, NCED sends you a notice and you can go 
to that hearing.  However, you want them to come to you.  Is that right? 
 
Wes Henderson: 
The notice would have to go out from NCED to any affected government entity.  
Then the county government would be the body that held the public hearing. 
 
Chair McClain: 
So you are saying right now there are no public hearings? 
 
Wes Henderson: 
That is correct. 
 
Chair McClain: 
Okay, are there any other questions?  Does staff have any questions?  [There 
were none.] 
 
Wes Henderson: 
The Nevada Association of Counties would be happy to work with 
Assemblywoman Kirkpatrick on this. 
 
Chair McClain: 
I think she has a valid point.  I know how hard she has been working on 
abatements.  She is the perfect candidate.  How soon could you get with 
everyone and put together a resolution, Madam Vice Chair? 
 
Assemblywoman Kirkpatrick: 
Probably five or six days, give or take, and that does not include weekends.   
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Chair McClain: 
We will have you report back to the Committee when you have come to 
a conclusion, and then we will go from there.  Did we have some other people 
signed in? 
 
Bjorn Selinder, Public Policy Innovations, LLC, Fallon, Nevada, representing 

Churchill, Elko, and Eureka Counties: 
I just want to indicate support for A.B. 30, and the proposed amendments 
would be appropriate.  We would also be more than willing to work with 
Assemblywoman Kirkpatrick to come up with a workable solution to this bill. 
 
Ted Olivas, Director, Office of Administrative Services, City of Las Vegas, 

Nevada: 
We are in support of the concept of this bill.  Assemblyman Anderson very 
clearly identified what our problem was.  Assemblyman Anderson and NACO, in 
the weeks prior to this hearing, have expressed their willingness to make sure 
that the school districts, cities, and towns have the appropriate input into this 
process.  We would like to thank them, and we look forward to working with 
Assemblywoman Kirkpatrick. 
 
Chair McClain: 
Are there any questions for these two gentlemen?  [There were none.]  Do we 
have someone here from NCED? 
 
Michael E. Skaggs, Carson City, Executive Director, Division of Economic 

Development, Commission on Economic Development: 
I am here today to speak in opposition to A.B. 30.  With me is LeRoy Goodman, 
who is Vice Chair of NCED, and Lindsey Anderson, who coordinates our 
incentive process.  We understand the budget pressures on all levels of 
government in the state right now.  We look forward to working with 
Assemblywoman Kirkpatrick to come up with some way to improve 
communication, as our communication seems to have broken down a bit.  We 
are going try to rectify that.   
 
There is, indeed, a public process in place right now where a taxing jurisdiction 
can support or oppose any proposed incentives.  This bill just adds more 
bureaucracy to the process when we are trying to work with companies to 
locate them here. 
 
Regarding this 30-day question, I am one of the ones who brought that up.  
Fifteen days is a tight turnaround for us to receive notification and then put it on 
the agenda for the NCED to consider.  A 30-day period would actually work 
better for us as well.   
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Because a lot of you have never had to deal with this process, I would like to 
walk you through it.  Any project seeking a new location or expansion in the 
state should already be involved in discussion with local government because of 
permitting issues.  If you are going to build a new building or expand a building, 
there is a reason you should be in dialog with that entity already.  If we receive 
an indication of interest from a company requesting incentives, we refer that 
company back to the designated economic development authority for that 
county.   
 
Under the current process, each county tells us who their economic 
development authority is.  Sometimes a staff member performs that function for 
the county.  Sometimes a nonprofit outside of county government is the 
designated organization through which we work.  When we notify the county, 
that is who we are notifying.  That authority is who would actually request we 
put a company on our agenda for consideration.  That is who we listen to, and 
that is our link back to the existing county government. 
 
Once we receive an application from any of these authorities, we review it as 
a staff team.  We look for whether the company is paying above the average 
wage, meeting the threshold for new jobs, exceeding the threshold on capital 
investment, and providing health insurance for its employees.  Those are our 
four major considerations.  If we determine the application needs to be put 
forward to the commissioners for consideration, we notify all the taxing 
jurisdictions that would be affected. 
 
In a previous meeting, NACO suggested we take a look at the language in the 
bill that would have us make sure to get a return receipt for the delivery of the 
notice.  That is such a common sense thing that we already do it.  
Churchill County Commissioner Frey pointed out there was a notice that did not 
get to the appropriate people, so that makes sense to us that we know who 
indeed got it and we can verify it.   
 
The notification we send out actually describes the proposed incentive in terms 
of what we estimate, by economic modeling, the new tax receipts to that 
jurisdiction to be.  As a rule of thumb, a lot of our incentives deal with abating 
50 percent of the taxes.  This company is a new entity coming into these taxing 
jurisdictions, so we make those jurisdictions aware of that new revenue.  We 
also make them aware of the term of the abatement and the amount of the 
abatement based on our economic modeling.  We then call their attention to the 
time and date of the next Commission meeting.  We simulcast between the 
Carson City and Las Vegas offices, and people can appear at either of those 
locations.  We try to make it as convenient as we can for someone in the south 
to go to the Washington Street office and participate in the discussion. 
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I assure you this is not a rubber stamp process.  The commissioners take it very 
seriously.  They hold companies' feet to the fire, particularly on wage levels and 
benefits for the employees, because that is what we are all about.  This is about 
quality jobs.  It is not about a job, it is about a good job.  Other considerations 
concern tax base.  A lot of rural areas in the state need tax base.  Some of the 
projects we have done lately add a lot of new tax base, and that is a very good 
thing in our opinion. 
 
I am not aware, and my commissioner is not aware, of any time counties have 
opposed an incentive package and were dissatisfied with the results, because 
we have followed their lead.  If a county has come before the Commission and 
objected to an incentive package, the Commission itself has objected to it.   
 
We have met with NACO, particularly regarding the geothermal energy 
production facilities, and another good piece of communication came out of 
that.  We asked the Attorney General to rule if the county or the taxing 
jurisdiction was enabled to make an agreement with this prospective company 
for such things as community improvements if the taxes were abated.  The 
Attorney General said they were so enabled.  That ruling, in itself, helps 
expedite this process and takes away some of the concerns that had come up 
prior to it.   
 
Whatever happens in that jurisdiction is none of our business.  We see that 
happen now.  The county entities are satisfied.  Then they bring the companies 
to us and we go about awarding the incentives.  We are attempting to listen.  
I think Assemblywoman Kirkpatrick made a good point:  We just need to work 
on the communication and the transparency.  That is not an issue with us.   
 
I want to affirm one more point.  Our hearings are public hearings that are 
broadcast, so we have a very public process for consideration.  There was a bit 
of confusion about that earlier.  We do have a public process on every one of 
these projects. 
 
Assemblywoman Kirkpatrick: 
Mr. Skaggs, I am trying to make this work across the board.  You were 
fortunate not to be here last session when we were doing the green building bill.  
We must have put in more than a thousand hours in four weeks on just that bill. 
 
You make a good point about the building permits.  Local governments 
absolutely should know what is going on.  But in Esmeralda County they do not 
have a building department, so they have no idea.  My point is that sometimes 
one hand does not know what the other hand is doing.  That is unfortunate, but 
it is very true, especially when we are in a boom cycle.   
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There is a good policy and process in place.  I want to work with you on it.  
Both sides have valid points, but notification has to be a little bit sooner.   
 
With green building, the notification occurs when they get their building permits.  
We found, with green building, that if something was sent to a county 
commissioner, he often did not share the information with everybody else, so it 
became problematic.  We addressed that in policy.  When the building 
application came, we sent it to the city manager or, if there was no city 
manager, to the appropriate person.  I would bet that would solve a lot of 
problems.   
 
I understand there is a public process at the end.  However, the school districts 
never went to the Tax Commission—not once—until I let them know they had 
to go.  Just because there is a public process does not mean entities will 
participate.  However, we have a good policy that is a win-win for everybody.  
I think we can develop some good communication and good policy where 
everybody wins. 
 
Chair McClain: 
Thank you.  That is your assignment. 
 
Assemblyman Grady: 
Assemblywoman Kirkpatrick has spent many hours working on these issues.   
 
I would like to ask you the same question that I asked NACO:  Do you or the 
development districts have any structure for going back to make sure these 
companies are still in business, are paying the wage, and are offering the 
insurance, or do we just get them here and then forget about them?  I know 
LeRoy has spent many years on both sides of this issue, so he probably has 
some good answers. 
 
LeRoy Goodman, Fernley, Commissioner, Commission on Economic 

Development: 
The Department of Taxation does the clawbacks.  If a company leaves before 
its time is up, or if it has not met those standards, that is not the responsibility 
of NCED.  It is the responsibility of the Department of Taxation.  They are the 
ones who ensure, through audits, that these businesses are meeting the 
parameters set forth when they applied for the abatements or deferrals.   
 
Every county commission in the State of Nevada meets at least twice a month, 
even in Esmeralda County.  The 30-day notification period makes a lot of sense.  
We have to keep in mind that this is not a bad administrative code.  However, 
Nevada Administrative Code (NAC) 360.472 says 15 days before the meeting.  
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If we hear from an entity at the 15 day mark, we have to agendize it at the 
Commission.   
 
That needs to be changed to 30 days.  That way, every county, city, school 
district, and unincorporated town would have an opportunity to agendize the 
matter, get the input they need, and bring it back before NCED.  As Mr. Skaggs 
said, the meetings are teleconferenced between Las Vegas and Carson City.  
Elko is also on audio at all times.   
 
If you go with the intent of A.B. 30, you bypass the cities, school districts, and 
unincorporated towns and their opportunities.  I am not sure that going the 
route of A.B. 30, where the county commission has a public hearing, is not 
simply a duplication of NCED's public hearings.  We have those public hearings 
now.  We simply need to broaden the time frame in the NAC to 30 days to 
allow all affected entities to be notified and to provide their input.  They can 
attend the meetings. 
 
I have been on NCED for ten years.  Twice we have had county governments, 
and once a city government, come before us to say they did not like an 
incentive proposal.  They were upheld; we never went against what a county 
said.  One time a county wanted an abatement for 50 percent for 10 years, and 
we cut it to 25 percent for 10 years due to extenuating circumstances.  We do 
listen to everybody that comes to us.   
 
We had this same complaint before.  The counties, cities, school districts, and 
unincorporated towns sometimes do not have the ability to respond.  If we have 
a meeting on March 18 and they come in on March 3 saying they want to be on 
the agenda, we have to put them on the agenda.  That is not enough time for 
any of the other organizations to properly agendize, according to the open 
meeting law, to have a hearing and have their say.  Thirty days would meet that 
standard.  I think that is the biggest problem with this process. 
 
Assemblywoman Pierce: 
What you were just talking about is something that has to be changed in your 
regulations? 
 
LeRoy Goodman: 
In NAC 360.472. 
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Assemblywoman Pierce: 
That sounds like a good idea.  The reading I have done on this issue nationwide 
indicates there is a lot of pitting states against each other.  Companies come in 
and say that if we do not do something in 10 minutes, Arizona is right next 
door.  The fact of the matter is that Arizona has to agendize things too.  Arizona 
is not some little banana republic.  The companies' game is pitting us against 
other states.  It is important for us to step back, take a deep breath, and 
remember all these other states have county commissions and public meetings 
that have to be agendized.  We need to make sure we do not get suckered into 
anything. 
 
LeRoy Goodman: 
That is a good point.  I fear that, with this bill, we may start seeing businesses 
playing one county against another.  We already have some of that going on.  
We do not see it in the geothermal or renewable energy industries, though, 
because the hot water is where the hot water is; the gold is where the gold is.  
Those resources cannot be moved anyplace else.  But, with solar, they can put 
those solar panels in any county in Nevada.  The sun shines everywhere; the 
wind blows everywhere.  A great many counties in this state have geothermal 
activity, but the hot water stays where it is. 
 
Chair McClain: 
Thank you.  Do we have any other questions or comments?  [There was no 
response.]  Does anyone else want to weigh in on this subject?  [Again, no 
response.]  We will close the hearing on A.B. 30.   
 
You each have a notebook on your desk that says "Work Session Documents."  
It also contains bill explanations, so just because it is sitting there does not 
mean we are going to have a work session. 
 
We have another joint meeting with Senate Taxation on Thursday.  At that 
meeting we will look at some of the revenue studies that have been done over 
the past few years.  We will also be presented with some information on best 
practices for state revenues across the country—this is a report that the 
National Conference of State Legislatures (NCSL) has done a lot of research on.  
The NCSL is a nonpartisan group with a wonderful think tank.  I have been on 
their Budget and Finance Committee for six or eight years.  They do a lot of 
good work, so I am having my intern pull some of it together and give us 
a report just to get his feet wet. 
 
Next Tuesday we will hear more bills.  There are a lot of bills that have not been 
introduced yet.  Plan on Thursday, March 5, being our marathon joint meeting.  
It will be a two-part meeting.  We will have our regular meeting from 1:30 p.m. 
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to 3:30 p.m.  Then we will reconvene at 5:00 p.m. and probably go until 
8:00 p.m.   
 
We will be videoconferencing to Las Vegas because we want to be able to get 
input from all kinds of organizations such as chambers and unions.  We will hear 
from mining and gaming.  Anybody who wants to can weigh in with their 
perception of what our budget problems are, their suggestions for fixing them, 
and what they are willing to do to help us fix them.  We will hear a lot of 
testimony from a lot of people.  The general public is welcome to testify, too, 
because many of our taxpaying residents have creative ideas.   
 
The meeting should be very interesting.  We are going to try to limit it to 
five hours, so there will be no long orations from anybody.   
 
If we do not have any more comments or questions, we are adjourned for today 
[at 2:39 p.m.]. 
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